# Tree Stomatal Regulation and Water Use in a Changing Climate

From Tropical to Boreal Ecosystems

Thomas Berg Hasper



# UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences Faculty of Sciences

Gothenburg 2015

This doctoral thesis in Natural Sciences, specializing in Environmental Sciences, is authorized by the Faculty of Science and will be publicly defended on the 4<sup>th</sup> December 2015, at 10:00 h, in the lecture hall at the Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Carl Skottsbergs gata 22B (Botanhuset), Gothenburg, Sweden.

> Opponent: Prof. John D. Marshall Department of Forest, Rangeland, and Fire Sciences, University of Idaho, Moscow, United States Department of Forest Ecology and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå, Sweden

ISBN 978-91-85529-84-1 (Print) ISBN 978-91-85529-88-9 (PDF) E-publication at: http://hdl.handle.net/2077/40809 © 2015 Thomas Berg Hasper Printed by Ineko AB

Front-page photo: from left to right, Flakaliden research site WTC (© Bengt-Olof Vigren), Ruhande arboretum, Hawkesbury Forest Experiment WTC and Rwasave nursery (© Thomas B. Hasper).



The author performing gas exchange measurements on trees under fieldwork in Rwanda.

Supervisor: Associate Prof. Johan Uddling Fredin Co-supervisor: Dr. Göran Wallin Examiner: Prof. Håkan Pleijel

To planet Earth and all its nature

"It seems to me that the natural world is the greatest source of excitement; the greatest source of visual beauty; the greatest source of intellectual interest. It is the greatest source of so much in life that makes life worth living"

Sir David Attenborough

### Abstract

Rising levels of atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration ([CO<sub>2</sub>]) and temperature have the potential to alter stomatal behavior and tree water use, which has implications for forest hydrology and climate. Many models assume decreases in stomatal conductance ( $g_s$ ) and plant water use under rising [CO<sub>2</sub>], which has been invoked as the causes for the positive global trend in river runoff over the past century. Plant water use is, however, also affected by changes in temperature, precipitation, land use and management and climate change-induced alterations in ecosystem structure. Still, there is no consensus about the contribution of different drivers to temporal trends of evapotranspiration (ET) and river runoff. There is great variation in stomatal and photosynthetic responses to [CO<sub>2</sub>] and temperature among plant species, and the factors controlling it are still poorly understood, in particular for boreal and tropical tree species.

This thesis investigated the effects of elevated  $[CO_2]$  and temperature on the stomatal functioning, tree hydraulics, canopy leaf area and whole-tree water use of mature *Picea abies* and young *Eucalyptus globulus* trees grown in whole-tree chambers in boreal and temperate areas, respectively. In the boreal study, the tree-level experiment was complemented with data on historical trends and patterns in ET of large-scale boreal landscapes, using climate and runoff data from the past 50 years, in order to assess water-use responses to past climate change in Swedish boreal forests. The thesis also explored the temperature responses of photosynthesis as well as the taxonomic and functional controls of the large interspecific variation in stomatal  $CO_2$  responsiveness and photosynthetic capacity in a broad range of tropical woody species.

Results demonstrated that neither mature P. abies nor young E. globulus saved water under elevated [CO2], and that warming did not increase their transpiration as decreased gs cancelled the effect of higher vapour pressure deficit in warmed air. Also, Swedish boreal ET increased over the past 50 years while runoff did not significantly change, with the increase in ET being related to increasing precipitation and forest standing biomass over time. In E. globulus, neither elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] nor warming treatment affected gs, stomatal density or length, or leaf area-specific plant hydraulic conductance. Furthermore, elevated [CO2] increased both total canopy leaf area and tree water use, while warming did not have any significant influence on either of these variables. In the tropical studies, the optimum temperature for the maximum rate of photosynthetic electron transport  $(J_{max})$ was lower in the native than in the exotic species. The daytime peak leaf temperatures greatly exceeded (by up to 10 °C) the photosynthetic optimum temperatures, in particular in the native montane rainforest species. Lastly, all studied plant taxonomic groups exhibited stomatal closure responses to increased  $[CO_2]$ , but none of the functional characteristics investigated could explain the variation in stomatal CO<sub>2</sub> responses among tropical woody species. The interspecific variation in photosynthetic capacity was related to within leaf nitrogen allocation rather than to area-based total leaf nutrient content.

The findings of this thesis have important implications for the projections of future water use of forests, showing that changes in tree structural responses (e.g. size, canopy leaf area and hydraulics) are more important than the effects of elevated  $[CO_2]$  or warming on leaf transpiration rates. The lack of reductions in  $g_s$  under elevated  $[CO_2]$  in *P. abies* and *E. globulus* conflicts with the present expectation and model assumption of substantial leaf-level water savings under rising CO<sub>2</sub>. In the tropical biome, the evidence of pronounced negative effects of high temperature on the photosynthesis of native montane tree species indicates high susceptibility of these ecosystems to global warming. Furthermore, the results on stomatal and photosynthetic responses in a broad range of tropical species contribute with important data for this comparatively poorly researched biome.

**Keywords**: Climate change, carbon dioxide, temperature, transpiration, water use, whole-tree chamber, stomata, stomatal conductance,  $V_{\text{cmax}}$ ,  $J_{\text{max}}$ , tropical, temperate, boreal, trees

# **List of Papers**

This thesis is based in the following papers, referred in the text by roman numerals as follows:

- I. **Hasper TB**, Wallin G, Lamba S, Hall M, Jaramillo F, Laudon H, Linder S, Medhurst J, Sigurdsson B, Räntfors M, Uddling J (2015) Water use by Swedish boreal forests in a changing climate. *Functional Ecology*, doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12546
- II. **Hasper TB**, Barton CVM, Crous KY, Quentin AG, Ellsworth DS, Uddling J. Stomatal and water-use responses of *Eucalyptus globulus* to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and warming. *Manuscript*.
- III. Vårhammar A, Wallin G, McLean CM, Dusenge EM, Medlyn BE, Hasper TB, Nsabimana D, Uddling J (2015) Photosynthetic temperature responses of tree species in Rwanda: evidence of pronounced negative effects of high temperature in montane rainforest climax species. *New Phytologist*, 206, 1000-1012.
- IV. Hasper TB, Dusenge EM, Breuer F, Uwizeye FK, Wallin G, Uddling J. Stomatal CO<sub>2</sub> responsiveness and photosynthetic capacity of tropical woody species in relation to phylogeny and functional traits. *Submitted to Oecologia*.

The papers and their respective supplementary material are appended in the end of the thesis and are reproduced with permission from the respective journals.

# Abbreviations and Symbols

$A_{\rm n}$	Net photosynthetic rate ( $\mu$ mol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )
$C_{\mathrm{A}}$	Ambient [CO <sub>2</sub> ] treatment
$C_{\mathrm{E}}$	Elevated [CO <sub>2</sub> ] treatment
$C_{\mathrm{i}}$	Intercellular $CO_2$ concentration (µmol mol <sup>-1</sup> )
$CO_2$	Carbon dioxide
$[CO_2]$	Carbon dioxide concentration ( $\mu$ mol mol <sup>-1</sup> )
D or VPD	Vapour pressure deficit (kPa)
$g_{ m s}$	Stomatal conductance (mol $H_2O \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$ )
$g_1$	Empirical slope parameter of the combined stomatal-photosynthesis model
	(Medlyn et al. 2011)
$g_{\rm smax}$	Maximum stomatal conductance determined from stomatal density and
	length data (mol $H_2O \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$ )
$J_{\max}$	Maximum rate of photosynthetic electron transport ( $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )
$K_{\rm L}$	Leaf area-specific plant hydraulic conductance (mmol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> MPa <sup>-1</sup> )
LAI	Leaf area index (m <sup>2</sup> canopy leaf area m <sup>-2</sup> ground area)
LMA	Leaf mass per unit area (g m <sup>-2</sup> )
Ν	Nitrogen
Na	Nitrogen content per unit leaf area (g m <sup>-2</sup> )
N <sub>m</sub>	Nitrogen concentration of dry mass (%)
NEP	Net ecosystem production
Р	Phosphorus
Pa	Phosphorus content per unit leaf area (g m <sup>-2</sup> )
P <sub>m</sub>	Phosphorus concentration of dry mass (%)
$T_{\rm A}$	Ambient temperature treatment
$T_{\rm E}$	Elevated temperature treatment
$V_{\rm cmax}$	Maximum rate of photosynthetic carboxylation ( $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )
VPD or $D$	Vapour pressure deficit (kPa)
WUE	Water Use Efficiency (mmol $CO_2$ mol $H_2O^{-1}$ )
ET	Evapotranspiration
$\psi_{\rm L}$	Leaf water potential (MPa)
$\psi_{S}$	Soil water potential (MPa)
FACE	Free-air concentration enrichment
WTC	Whole-tree chamber

# **Table of Contents**

1 INTRODUCTION	9
1.1 CLIMATE CHANGE	9
1.2 Forests and climate	9
Forests feedbacks on climate	
1.3 Leaf-level responses to rising $CO_2$ and temperature	12
Short-term effects of CO <sub>2</sub>	
Short-term effects of warming	
Long-term effects of CO <sub>2</sub>	
1.4 CANODV-LEVEL RESPONSES TO RISING CO. AND TEMPERATURE	
Effects of CO2	
Effects of warming	
Combined CO <sub>2</sub> and warming effects	
1.5 KNOWLEDGE GAPS	17
2 AIMS AND HYPOTHESES	
3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	20
3.1 Sites	
3.2 Measurements	23
4 FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION	24
5 CONCLUSIONS	32
6 OUTLOOK	34
7 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
8. REFERENCES	

# **1** Introduction

#### 1.1 Climate Change

Atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations  $([CO_2])$  and temperature have been in continuous change throughout Earth's history. In the last 450 000 years, several cycles of glacial advances and retreats have naturally changed temperatures, [CO<sub>2</sub>] and consequently the climate (Fig. 1). Most of these changes were naturally attributed to small variations in Earth's orbit that change the amount of solar energy our planet received. Since the end of the last ice age (ca. 7 000 years ago), temperatures and [CO<sub>2</sub>] have been increasing. Adding to that, since the beginning of the Industrial Revolution (1750; Fig. 1), anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases and land-use change have been further increasing [CO<sub>2</sub>] and temperatures at speeds never recorded before. Emissions of greenhouse gases such as CO<sub>2</sub>, but also methane, nitrous oxide and tropospheric ozone, are largely driven by anthropogenic activities, and are the main drivers of the observed warming since 1950 (IPCC 2014a). Since then,

climate change has caused impacts on natural and human systems all around the planet (IPCC 2014b). Continued emission of greenhouse gases will cause further warming and long-lasting changes in all climatic system components, increasing the impacts on Earth's ecosystems.

#### 1.2 Forests and climate

Burning of fossil fuels and anthropogenic land-use change have raised  $[CO_2]$  by over 40%, from the pre-industrial 280 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> to the current 400 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 1; Ciais et al. 2013; Dlugokencky and Tans 2015). Most recent projections estimate that  $[CO_2]$ will rise to between 450 and 900 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> by the year 2100 (IPCC 2014a), likely reaching concentrations not seen in the past 40 million years (Franks et al. 2013). The rise in atmospheric greenhouse gases concentrations, mainly CO<sub>2</sub> and methane, has already caused an increase of 0.7 °C in global mean temperature since 1900, and recent projections



Figure 1. Vostok ice core data for atmospheric  $[CO_2]$  and temperature for the last 400 000 years. Temperature changes are relative to the 1960-1990 mean (modified from Petit et al. 1999).

shows that mean global temperatures will further increase by 1 to 4.5 °C by the end of the century (IPCC 2014a). There is also a distinctive pattern of latitudinal and seasonal variation in warming, with the largest temperature increase being expected at higherlatitude regions and winter months. Consequently, Arctic regions might be facing warming of up to 5.5 °C in the summer and 10 °C in the winter (IPCC 2014a).

#### Forests feedbacks on climate

Worldwide, forests cover ca. 42 million km<sup>2</sup> in tropical, temperate and boreal regions, representing ca. 30% of the world's land surface (Fig. 2 and 3). They store ca. 45% of the terrestrial carbon (Fig. 2) and contribute with ca. 50% of the terrestrial net primary production (Sabine et al. 2004). However, these figures tend to change depending on the study (e.g. Bonan et al. 2008; Pan et al. 2011; Ciais et al. 2013). Forests provide innumerous services to natural systems and mankind (Hassan et al. 2005). Among them, the most important are biodiversity refuges, food, medicines, forest products, soil protection, hydrological cycle and climate regulation (Bonan 2008). Forests influence global, regional and local climate by exchanging energy, water, CO<sub>2</sub> and other greenhouse gases with the atmosphere.



Figure 2. Land area coverage and total carbon stock (Soil <1m depth, live and dead vegetation, and litter) of the different forest types (Modified from Bonan 2008 and Pan et al. 2011, respectively).

World's forests have not only important feedbacks on climate but also on the rate of ongoing climate change (Bonan 2008). Of the CO<sub>2</sub> currently released from anthropogenic sources, ca. 85% (7.7 PgC y<sup>-1</sup>) comes from burning of fossil fuels, while ca. 15%  $(1.4 \text{ PgC y}^{-1})$  comes from deforestation. From the total CO<sub>2</sub> released, ca. 45% (4.1 PgC y<sup>-1</sup>) stays in the atmosphere, while oceans and forests are able to absorb ca. 26%  $(2.3 \text{ PgC y}^{-1})$  and 29%  $(3.0 \text{ PgC y}^{-1})$  respecttively (Le Quéré et al. 2009). Forests are thus important net carbon sinks, and remove more carbon from the atmosphere by photosynthesis then they release via respiration and deforestation (Le Quéré et al. 2009; Reich 2011). Forests can also strengthen or mitigate anthropogenic climate change through effects on land albedo and evapotranspiration (ET), depending on the effects of reforestation, afforestation or altered forest composition and structure on these biophysical climate feedbacks in different areas (Bonan 2008).

Tropical forests contain ca. 55% of the carbon in the terrestrial biosphere (Fig. 2) and ca. 50% of global forest net ecosystem production (NEP; Luyssaert et al. 2007). Tropical forest tree species are in general more vulnerable to climate warming and reduction in precipitation than species from other forests biomes (Malhi et al. 2008). Global warming may thus decrease tropical forest productivity and maybe even initiate forest dieback, which may in turn intensify global warming through a positive feedback caused by decreases in evaporative cooling and diminishing forest carbon uptake (Betts et al. 2004). On the other hand, if afforestation and reforestation efforts are successful, forests will mitigate climate change by their high carbon sequestration capacity and evaporative cooling. However, the resilience of future forests to drought, fires, air pollution, and climate change are highly uncertain. Worldwide, loss of tropical forests by logging and clearing to give space to human

economic activities has been increasing in the last four decades (Malhi et al. 2008). Such land-use pressures are expected to continue into the future and may, together with climate change, turn the Amazonian region, the world's largest tropical forest, into a semi-arid area once a critical threshold of clearing is reached (Bonan 2008).

Temperate forests contain ca. 14% of the terrestrial carbon (Fig. 2) and ca. 35% of the global forest NEP (Luyssaert et al. 2007). Even if current carbon sequestration rates are high, historically, most of the natural temperate forest areas have been carbon sources due to intensive deforestation (Albani et al. 2006). However, in the last decades, socioeconomic trends in reforestation and forestfire control have changed these forests to a carbon sink (IPCC 2013). These forests are under strong pressure from human land use and much of them have already been cleared for agriculture (Bonan 2008). The future of temperate forests is uncertain since they face combined threats from climate change, CO<sub>2</sub> increase, nitrogen eutrophication and land use and management (IPCC 2014b).

In temperate forests, the climate feedbacks are less obvious than in tropical and boreal forests. Temperate forest reforestation and afforestation increase carbon sequestration, but the effects on albedo and evaporative forcings are moderate and likely counteract each other.

Boreal forests contain ca. 32% of the terrestrial carbon (Fig. 2) and ca. 15% of the global forest NEP (Luyssaert et al. 2007). These ecosystems make significant contribution to the Northern Hemisphere terrestrial carbon sink (Reich 2011; IPCC 2013). With global warming, the boreal forest may expand into northern-tundra areas. However it may decline along the southern ecotones, where evergreen trees lose habitat to deciduous-temperate adapted trees. The future boreal forests may also suffer from more frequent fires and insect attacks (Bonan 2008). Expansion or plantation of boreal forests on the tundra would likely strengthen climate warming since the albedo effect is usually stronger than the carbon sequestration effect (boreal forests have low albedo; Bala et al. 2007; Bonan 2008).



Figure 3. Distribution of Earth's natural tropical, temperate and boreal forests (adapted from illustration by Nicolle Rager Fuller, National Science Foundation).

# 1.3 Leaf-level responses to rising CO<sub>2</sub> and temperature

The ongoing increase in [CO<sub>2</sub>] and temperature have strong impacts on plant physiology, and many studies have investigated the responses of plant carbon and water fluxes to these environmental drives, principally on the leaf level and on relative short-time scales (minutes – months; Fig. 4).

While short-term, leaf-level responses to increased  $[CO_2]$  and temperature are fairly well understood; the longer-term (years – decades) and larger-scale responses to these factors are still not so well investigated (Fig. 4). In addition, there is little knowledge on the combined CO<sub>2</sub> and warming responses at any temporal or spatial scale, and to date there have been no studies that looked at the responses to CO<sub>2</sub> and/or temperature at longer temporal scales (decades).

#### Short-term effects of CO<sub>2</sub>

Overall, the direct effects of  $CO_2$  on photosynthesis are well understood. Elevated  $[CO_2]$  stimulates the carboxylation rate of Rubisco and suppress its oxygenation function and thus the rate of photorespiration (e.g. Drake et al. 1997). In carboxylation-limited conditions (e.g. high light and/or low internal  $[CO_2]$ ), photosynthesis increases sharply with rising intracellular  $[CO_2]$  (C<sub>i</sub>) as substrate limitations are relieved. At higher  $C_i$ levels, the predominant limitation for CO<sub>2</sub> fixation is the regeneration of Ribulose 1,5 bisphosphate (RuBP) in the Calvin-Benson cycle, which is driven by ATP and NADPH from electron transport in the thylakoid membrane. Even with the 40% increase in  $[CO_2]$  in these last 350 years (Fig. 1), plants with C3 photosynthesis (which account for 95% of the global plant species) still typically operate at a  $C_i$  that is within the carboxylation-limited phase under full daylight conditions. With this fact, we can expect that further increases in [CO<sub>2</sub>] will stimulate net photosynthesis  $(A_n)$  in trees, as observed in field experiments with elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] (Ainsworth and Rogers 2007).

Partial stomatal closure, causing a decrease in stomatal conductance  $(g_s)$ , is another



Figure 4. Conceptual diagram illustrating today's confidence in different types of tree physiological responses to elevated  $[CO_2]$  and temperature, with higher confidence shown by largersized symbols (adapted from Way et al. 2015).

direct plant response to elevated  $[CO_2]$  in most plant species investigated (Morison 1985; Ainsworth and Rogers 2007). The direct effects of CO2 on the pathways determining the stomatal movements are to some extent understood (Kim et al. 2010). However, there are still uncertainties on how stomata senses [CO<sub>2</sub>] (Kim et al. 2010; Kollist et al. 2014). There is evidence that stomatal sensitivity to CO<sub>2</sub> vary among plant functionnal types, with angiosperms commonly presenting greater responses than gymnosperms (Medlyn et al. 1999; Brodribb et al. 2009). This greater sensitivity was recently attributed to a more pronounced Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent stomatal signalling pathway in angiosperms (Brodribb and McAdam 2013).

#### Short-term effects of warming

Short-term photosynthetic temperature responses are usually characterized by a curve that peaks at intermediate temperatures, which depend on the growth environment (Fig. 5; Sage and Kubien 2007; Yamori et al. 2014). Temperature affects photosynthesis primarily by affecting enzyme functioning and membrane integrity and fluidity. All components of photosynthesis are influenced by temperature, including the maximum carboxylation rate by Rubisco ( $V_{\rm cmax}$ ), the Michaelis-Menten constants for carboxylation and oxygenation, the photosynthetic electron transport, and the CO<sub>2</sub> supply to the chloroplast via changes in g<sub>s</sub> and mesophyll conductance (Bernacchi et al. 2001; Crous et al. 2013; Bernacchi et al. 2002; Lin et al. 2012). Leaves functioning below their thermal optimum will benefit from warming, while leaves frequently operating at or above its photosynthetic thermal optimum will suffer reductions in photosynthesis and carbon gain. So, depending on the initial temperature and its magnitude, warming can stimulate, suppress or have little effect on photosynthetic rates (Yamori et al. 2014).



Figure 5. Thermal acclimation of the response of net photosynthesis to temperature (adapted from Yamori et al. 2014).

Generally, temperature is considered to have little direct effect on  $g_{s_1}$  with studies only indicating a temperature effect via altered water viscosity (Fredeen and Sage 1999; Peak and Mott 2011; Rockwell et al. 2014). However, changes in temperatures are usually positively correlated with changes in vapour pressure deficit (VPD). Also, changes in VPD usually have direct effects on transpiration (Kupper et al. 2011). So, increased VPD generally causes a reduction in  $g_s$ , which may partially or fully compensate for the positive effect of VPD on transpiration. In so called 'isohydric' species (including many tree species) and at high levels of VPD, the effects of increasing VPD and decreasing  $g_{\rm s}$  often offset each other to maintain transpiration at a relatively constant value (Oren et al. 1999). If this fails to happen, the leaf water supply may not be able to keep pace with the increase in transpiration, which in turn may cause xylem cavitation. At lower levels of VPD, however, VPD has a positive effect on transpiration.

Increased temperature and VPD will usually cause a decrease in water-use efficiency (WUE). However, predictions on how WUE will be affected by changes in leaf temperature are more challenging than how it will be affected by increased [CO<sub>2</sub>]. Changes in WUE will mainly depend on if photosynthesis will be stimulated, not affected or suppressed by warming. In addition, the WUE response will also depend on if  $g_s$  will be regulated to maintain a constant transpiration rate, or if transpiration will substantially increase in warmer conditions (Way et al. 2015).

#### *Long-term effects of CO*<sub>2</sub>

In the long term, biochemical and structural acclimation of leaves to the new environmental conditions commonly reduce photosynthetic responses to elevated  $[CO_2]$  (Fig. 6a; Sage 1994; Medlyn et al. 1999; Ainsworth and Long 2005; Ainsworth and Rogers 2007). This down-regulation of the photosynthetic capacity may be caused by an increase in leaf carbohydrate production causing a shift in the balance between carbon sources and sinks in the tree (Moore et al. 1999). In addition, the degree of photosynthetic capacity down-regulation is linked to leaf nitrogen (N) content, which is typically

reduced in elevated  $[CO_2]$  (Ainsworth and Rodgers 2007). Field  $CO_2$  experiments often found significant down-regulation of photosynthetic capacity because of reductions in the leaf N content (Sage 1994; Curtis and Wang 1998; Ellsworth et al. 2004). However, it should be noted that the down-regulation of photosynthetic capacity is usually not large enough to offset the positive effect of increased substrate availability on  $A_n$  (Fig. 6a).

Overall, leaves of plants grown in elevated  $[CO_2]$  had ca. 20% lower  $g_s$  than leaves grown in ambient conditions (Fig. 6b; Medlyn et al. 2001; Ainsworth and Rogers 2007). In general, the  $g_s$  response to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] is typically stronger in broadleaf trees than in conifers (Medlyn et al. 2001; Ward et al. 2013). Furthermore, the long-term  $g_s$  response to increased  $[CO_2]$  seems to be similar to the short-term  $g_s$  response (Fig. 7), indicating that plant species that exhibit a pronounced direct stomatal closure response to a shortterm increase in [CO<sub>2</sub>] also develop a longterm g<sub>s</sub> reduction. Usually, leaves that developped under increased [CO<sub>2</sub>] exhibit a similar intracellular to ambient [CO<sub>2</sub>] ratio



Figure 6. Responses of light-saturated CO<sub>2</sub> uptake ( $A_{sat}$ ; a) and of  $g_s$  (b) to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] in FACE experiments. Grey bars represent the overall mean and 95% confidence interval (CI) of all data. Dark symbols represent the mean response (95% CI) of C3 and C4 species and differrent plant functional groups (adapted from Ainsworth and Rogers 2007).



Figure 7. Relationship between the short-term response of  $g_s$  to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] and the long-term effect of growth under elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] on  $g_s$  in temperate forest free-air CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment (FACE) experiments. Regression statistics are shown in the figure. Based on data from Cech et al. (2003), Keel et al. (2007), Maier et al. (2008), Domec et al. 2009, Onandia et al. (2011) and Tor-ngern et al. (2015).

 $(C_i/C_a)$  as leaves developed in ambient [CO<sub>2</sub>], an assumption that is also incorporated into models (Leuning 1995; Medlyn et al. 2011).

#### Long-term effects of warming

As for responses to increased [CO<sub>2</sub>], shortterm leaf responses to warming can also be modified to the new environmental conditions due to longer-term thermal acclimation (Sage and Kubien 2007; Yamori et al. 2014). Compared with the direct effect of shortterm changes in leaf temperature, thermal acclimation can further stimulate or inhibit photosynthesis depending on the initial leaf temperature and the direction and magnitude of temperature change (Way and Yamori 2014). In general, however, thermal acclimation acts to maintain a homeostatic rate of carbon fixation at the typically prevailing growth temperature (e.g. Battaglia et al. 1996; Ghannoum et al. 2010). Long-term exposure to warmer environments frequently leads to an adjustment of the optimum leaf temperature for photosynthesis to a higher value (Fig. 5; Way et al. 2015; Kattge and Knorr 2007), while the values of  $V_{\rm cmax}$  and

maximum rate of photosynthetic electron transport  $(J_{max})$  at a standard leaf temperature (often 25 °C) have been found to be quite conservative (Way and Oren 2010). Overall, photosynthetic temperature acclimation to warming has been shown to vary among plant functional types, with evergreen tree species commonly being less capable to acclimate photosynthesis and to maintain homeostatic levels of carbon gain in response to warming compared to deciduous trees (Way and Yamori 2014; Yamori et al. 2014). In addition, temperature acclimation of photosynthesis is more likely to occur in younger leaves, due to new leaves greater capacity to adjust anatomical and structural characteristics to warmer growth conditions (Campbell et al. 2007). However, this is not always the case and several studies found no significant photosynthetic acclimation at all to warming (e.g. Warren 2008; Silim et al. 2010).

Studies of long-term acclimation of  $g_s$  to warming are rare (Way et al. 2015), and existing studies indicate limited effects of warming on  $g_s$  measured at a constant set of environmental conditions (e.g. Phillips et al. 2011; Lewis et al. 2013). However, exceptions exist and  $g_s$  (at standard measurement conditions) is sometimes reduced in trees grown in warmer temperatures (Mäenpää et al. 2011). Warming studies showed variable results on stomatal patterning, from decreesed (e.g. Luomala et al. 2005) to unaltered (e.g. Hovenden 2001; Lewis et al. 2002) or increased stomatal density, stomatal index and stomatal aperture area in trees grown at increased temperature (e.g. Pandey et al. 2007; Sadras et al. 2012; Zheng et al. 2013).

# 1.4 Canopy-level responses to rising CO<sub>2</sub> and temperature

#### Effects of CO<sub>2</sub>

The physiological responses at the leaf level lead to cumulative effects on plant structure

that may strengthen or dampen the initial effects of elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] and warming on photosynthesis and transpiration. Results from long-term studies have shown that leaf area index (LAI) of trees is commonly increased by elevated  $[CO_2]$  (McCarthy et al. 2007; Uddling et al. 2009; McCarthy et al. 2010; Norby et al. 2010). The strength of the stimuli is related to the initial LAI of the trees, and it is stronger in ecosystems where LAI is low (Palmroth et al. 2006). In addition, the degree to which LAI will increase under elevated  $[CO_2]$  will be constrained by water and nutrient availability in the environment (Woodward 1990; McCarthy et al. 2007). Since mature leaves need to be selfsufficient for carbohydrates, the increase in LAI under elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] is possible partially because of the decrease in the light compensation point (the light intensity at which the rate of photosynthesis equals the rate of respiration) of photosynthesis in elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] (Way et al. 2015). As [CO<sub>2</sub>] increases, photorespiration is suppressed and leaves from lower canopy layers will get a more favorable carbon balance, causing increased LAI under elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] (Hirose et al. 1997).

As elevated CO<sub>2</sub>-induced leaf-level watersaving translate into reduced tree water use, this will lead to enhanced soil moisture and runoff on large geographical scales (e.g. Gedney et al. 2006; Betts et al. 2007; Cao et al. 2010). Studies claiming that stomatal responses to [CO<sub>2</sub>] explain temporal increases in global runoff during the last century (Gedney et al. 2006; Betts et al. 2007; Cao et al. 2010) conflict with studies suggesting that this increase was primarily caused by rising temperature and precipitation (Labat et al. 2004; Huntington 2008; Wisser et al. 2010; Alkama et al. 2011) or to a combination of these climatic effects and land-use changes (Piao et al. 2007; Raymond et al. 2008; Jaramillo and Destouni 2014). However, reductions in leaf-level  $g_s$  can be counterbalanced

by higher LAI and changes in tree hydraulic functioning in higher  $[CO_2]$  (Schäfer et al. 2002; Wullschleger et al. 2002; Domec et al. 2009; Leuzinger and Bader 2012). The forest water-use responses to increased  $[CO_2]$  will also depend on possible changes in tree species composition (Warren et al. 2011).

The impact of  $[CO_2]$  increase on tree WUE depends on the responses of  $A_n$  and transpiration at the canopy level. Eddy flux measurements in forests have shown a significant increase in WUE as  $[CO_2]$  increased over the past 18 years (Keenan et al. 2013), agreeing with tree ring derived WUE estimates from different biomes based on stable carbon isotope methodology that showed an average 20% increase in WUE since 1960 (Peñuelas et al. 2011).

#### Effects of warming

The impacts of warming on canopy-level processes are much less studied than the impacts of increased [CO<sub>2</sub>], making the task to scale up from leaf to canopy level much more challenging. In general, warming has positive effects on tree species growth in cool climate and negative effects on tree species from warmer areas (Way and Oren 2010; Ghannoum and Way 2011). While in cool climates, tree water use may be stimulated by increased VPD and growing season prolongation, responses of plant growth and transpiration in warm climates will likely depend on the proximity of initial temperatures to upper thermal thresholds (Doughty and Goulden 2009; Crous et al. 2013) and constraints from soil water availability (Chung et al. 2013). In many experiments with seedlings, warming stimulates plant developmental rates and past studies typically report on positive effects of increased temperature on plant growth and canopy leaf area (e.g. Tjoelker et al. 1999; Way and Sage 2008; Way et al. 2013). However, warminginduced differences in canopy leaf area are likely considerably smaller in stands with

closed canopies because of within-canopy self-shading (Way et al. 2015).

#### Combined CO<sub>2</sub> and warming effects

Plants growing in a future warmer environment will also be growing in a CO2-enriched world (Fig. 1). Compared with the number of studies manipulating just one of these factors, there are much fewer studies looking at the responses of trees to both [CO<sub>2</sub>] increase and warming (Fig. 4). It was only in the last 20 vears that these studies became more common, producing valuable data on the combied impact of  $[CO_2]$  and temperature on trees (e.g. Zha et al. 2005; Hall et al. 2009; Ghannoum et al. 2010; Phillips et al. 2011; Zeppel et al. 2012; Crous et al. 2013; Sigurdsson et al. 2013; Duan et al. 2014). At the leaf level, the combined effect of increased  $[CO_2]$  and temperature can interact in ways that either strengthens or cancel their independent effects (Long 1991; Sage and Kubien 2007; Lewis et al. 2013; Sigurdsson et al. 2013; Duan et al. 2014), with no clear patterns on when, where or why to expect a certain type of interaction. The performance of trees grown under both elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] and temperature will depend both on the balance between the individual responses to  $[CO_2]$  and temperature and on these poorly investigated interactions (Way et al. 2015).

#### 1.5 Knowledge gaps

The great majority of studies have so far mostly looked at the effects of increased  $[CO_2]$  and temperature on plants at low temporal (minutes to months) and spatial (leaf) scales (Fig. 4). Therefore, there is an urgent need of data from longer experiments (years to decades) looking at larger spatial scales (canopy to stand), especially regarding warming responses. Since plants growing in a higher  $[CO_2]$  atmosphere will much likely also experience a warmer environment, it is also crucial that future experiments look at the combined impacts of these two global change factors. Factorial experiments on [CO<sub>2</sub>] and temperature are few, mainly due to the elevated operational costs involved in these experiments. However, such studies are critical for better understanding and predicttion of how plants and terrestrial ecosystems will respond to climate change. Furthermore, it is important that such experiments investigate how these climate change factors affect not only plant physiological processes but also integrated responses that are important for ecosystem functioning and ecosystem climate feedbacks (i.e. plant carbon and water balance, biomass magnitude and allocation, canopy structure and LAI). In addition, there is a critical need to better understand how [CO<sub>2</sub>] increase and warming will affect tree species in understudied tropical and boreal ecosystems.

# 2 Aims and Hypotheses

The overall aim of this thesis was to increase the understanding of stomatal and water-use responses of ecologically and economically important boreal, temperate and tropical tree species to increased [CO<sub>2</sub>] and temperature. In addition, the specific papers of the thesis had the following aims and hypotheses:

#### Paper I

This study aimed to explore the climate change responses of boreal forest water use by using both experimental data and longterm monitoring.

The hypotheses were: (i) stomatal conductance will decreased under elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>]; (ii) boreal trees and forests will save water under elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>]; and (iii) boreal trees and forests will use more water under elevated temperature.

#### Paper II

This study aimed to improve the understandding of the effects of elevated  $[CO_2]$  and warming on stomatal regulation and water use of young *Eucalyptus globulus* trees grown in a warm humid temperate area in southeast Australia.

The hypotheses were: (i) short- and longterm responses of  $g_s$  to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] are linked, such that the direct stomatal response translate into a similar long-term effect of growth in elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] on  $g_s$ ; (ii) longterm responses of  $g_s$  to experimental treatments are coordinated with the responses of stomatal patterning (density and size) and leaf area-specific hydraulic conductance; (iii) tree water use is decreased by elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] and increased by warming, reflecting direct leaf-level responses; or (as an alternative to iii) (iv) changes in canopy leaf area compensate for possible changes in leaf-level water use for little net change in tree water use under elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] and/or warming.

#### Paper III

This study aimed to improve the limited understanding of temperature responses of photosynthesis in tropical tree species by providing the first temperature response assessments of photosynthetic capacity (i.e.  $J_{\text{max}}$ and  $V_{\text{cmax}}$ ) in tropical tree species. In addition, the study also explored the role of leaf energy balance in assessing high temperature sensitivity.

The hypotheses were: (i)  $J_{\text{max}}$  is more sensitive to high temperature than  $V_{\text{cmax}}$ , as has been found in temperate and boreal tree species; (ii) cold-adapted native montane rainforest species have lower photosynthetic optimum leaf temperature than warm-adapted exotic plantation species; and (iii) the optimum leaf temperatures of photosynthesis are commonly exceeded in the cool-adapted native montane tropical tree species but not in the warm-adapted exotic plantation species when grown in an intermediate temperature common garden.

#### Paper IV

This study aimed to improve the poor understanding of the taxonomic and functional controls of the large interspecific variation in stomatal CO<sub>2</sub> responsiveness and photosynthetic capacity (i.e.  $J_{max}$  and  $V_{cmax}$ ) among tropical woody species by examining leaf physiological, chemical and structural traits in an evolutionary broad cross-section of mature woody seed plants in a tropical arboretum in Rwanda.

The hypotheses were: (i) different major taxonomical groups will have different short-term stomatal response to increased [CO<sub>2</sub>],

and differences will be particularly pronounced between gymnosperms and angiosperm groups; (ii) the variation in stomatal behavior (i.e. short-term  $CO_2$  response and the empirical slope parameter of the combined stomatal-photosynthesis model,  $g_1$ ) among groups can be linked to certain plant functional characteristics; and (iii) withinleaf nutrient allocation is more important than total area-based leaf nutrient content in controlling the interspecific variation in photosynthetic capacity among tropical woody species.

# **3 Materials and Methods**

The methodologies of all experiments are described in detail in each of the original studies on which this thesis is based. Here, however, a brief description of the sites at which the experiments were made is provided, as well as a description of the methodlogy used and measurements conducted in each study (Table 1).

#### 3.1 Sites

#### Flakaliden Research site, Sweden (Paper I)

The Flakaliden Research site is located in northern Sweden (64°06'48"N 19°28'32"E) and it was established in a Norway spruce (Picea abies) stand (Fig. 8a) in 1963. Since the late 1980s, it has been used for several long-term manipulation experiments addressing questions regarding nutrient limitations and the possible impacts of climate change on the structure and function of boreal forests (Ryan 2013). Data used in Paper I are from the experiment that investigated the effects of elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] and/or temperature on ca. 40-year-old Norway spruce trees using 12 whole-tree chambers (WTC) (Medhurst et al. 2006). Detailed description of the experimental site, the design and performance of the WTC, and the biomass components of trees used in the experiment can be found in Medhurst et al. (2006) and Sigurdsson et al. (2006).

#### Central Swedish catchments (Paper I)

The four catchments, Dalälven, Ljusnan, Ljungan and Indalsälven are situated within the southern and middle boreal sub-zones (Fig. 9). Forests with Norway spruce and/or Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) dominate all four catchments, covering 73% of the total area. Around 98% of the forested area is managed, with clear-cutting as the dominating harvest method and an approximate

rotation length of 90 years. Grassland, lakes and wetlands cover 6, 7 and 8% of this area, respectively. The central region of Sweden, in which these four catchment areas are situated, is sparsely inhabited with the main urban areas found along the coast of Gulf of Bothnia. A detailed description of the catchments can be found in **Paper I**.

#### Svartberget/Krycklan Research Catchment, Sweden (**Paper I**)

The Svartberget/Krycklan Research Catchment site is located in northern Sweden (64° 14'39"N, 19°45'58"E) in an area of 47 ha. It is dominated by mixed forest stands (82% of the total area), mostly consisting of Norway spruce and Scots pine (Buffam et al. 2007). This site is an old forest stand that has not been subject to forest management in the last century and provides a representative forest landscape hydrology of the area (Fig. 8b). A detailed description of the site can be found in Laudon et al. (2013).

# Hawkesbury Forest Experiment, Australia (**Paper II**)

The Hawkesbury Forest Experiment site is situated in Richmond, Australia, (33°36' 40"S, 150°44'26"E) in an area of 5 ha established in a paddock, which had been converted from native pasture grasses in the late 1990s (Fig. 8c). Data used in Paper II was from an experiment that investigated the effects of elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] and/or temperature on young E. globulus trees using the same 12 WTC that were used in the Flakaliden CO<sub>2</sub> and warming experiment. A detailed description of the site and the WTC characteristics and functionality can be found in Barton et al. (2010) and more information on the experimental trees and performance of the WTC were provided by Crous et al. (2013) and Quentin et al. (2015).



Figure 8. Photos of the sites where the studies in this thesis where conducted or data was obtained from. Flakaliden Research site (a); Svartberget/Krycklan Research Catchment (b); Hawkesbury Forest Experiment (c); Rwasave Nursery (d); and Ruhande Arboretum (e). Photos by Bengt-Olof Vigren (a); Hjalmar Laudon (b); and Thomas B. Hasper (c, d, e).

#### Rwasave Nursery, Rwanda (Paper III)

The Rwasave nursery is located on the edge of the Ruhande Arboretum in Butare, Rwanda (2°36'28"S, 29°45'28"E) and produces seedlings of native and exotic tree species for the Ruhande arboretum and farmers (Fig. 8d).

#### Ruhande Arboretum (Paper IV)

The Ruhande Arboretum is located adjacent to the University of Rwanda, Huye district, southwestern Rwanda ( $2^{\circ}36'54''S$ ,  $29^{\circ}44'$ 53''E) and is managed by the Rwanda Agriculture Board. The arboretum was established in 1934 and since then has gathered 227 tree species (50 native to Rwanda) planted, in most part, as replicated monospecific 50 x 50 m plots within its 200 ha plantation area (Fig. 8e). More information about the arboretum can be found in Nsabimana et al. (2009).



Figure 9. Map of the central Swedish catchments used in **Paper I**.

Table 1. Over	view of experiments in Papers	I, II, III and IV.		
ASPECTS	PAPER I	PAPER II	PAPER III	PAPER IV
Location	Flakaliden, Sweden Svartberget/Krycklan, Sweden Central Swedish catchments	Richmond, Australia	Huye, Rwanda	Huye, Rwanda
Climate zone	Boreal	Warm humid temperate	Tropical	Tropical
	Picea abies	Eucalyptus globulus	Carapa grandiflora Entandrophragma excelsum Hagenia abyssinica Cedrela serrata Eucalyptus maidenii Eucalyptus microcorys	Araucaria angustifolia Cupressus lusitanica Pinus patula Podocarpus latifolius Podocarpus falcatus Podocalarmus giganteus Bambusa vulgaris Heliconia rostrata
Tree species				Musa sapientum Macaranga kilimandscharica

-		Tree age	Growth environment	Treatment or groups compared	Response measurements
		Mature	Whole-tree chamber, planted in the soil	Temperature, CO <sub>2</sub>	Leaf- and canopy-level gs, transpiration and leaf area; Large-scale and long-term data of temperature, precipitation, runoff, growing season length, forest biomass
		Juvenile	Whole-tree chamber, planted in the soil	Temperature, CO <sub>2</sub>	Responses of g <sub>s</sub> to [CO <sub>2</sub> ]: Leaf size, LMA, stomatal density and length, leaf N and P concentration, leaf water potential: Tree leaf area and water use
		Seedlings	Nursery, planted in pots	Climate of species origin	A-Cr curves, g <sub>s</sub> , plant height, leaf size, LMA, leaf N and P concentration
Prunus careta Eucalyptus maculata Carapa grandiffora Cedrela serrata Brachychiton acerifolius Jacaranda mimosifolia Cordia lucidum	Ligustrum lucidum Cyphomandra betaceae Tithonia diversifolia	Mature	Arboretum, planted in the soil	Plant taxonomic group	Responses of g <sub>s</sub> and A <sub>n</sub> (A-C, curves) to [CO <sub>2</sub> ]; Leaf size, LMA, stomatal density and length, leaf N and P concentration, leaf water potential, wood density

#### 3.2 Measurements

#### Gas exchange measurements

Gas exchange measurements were performed in all studies of this thesis in order to measure different leaf-, shoot- and canopy-level physiological responses to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] and temperature (Fig. 8a and 10). Leaf gas exchange instruments measured the leaf fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub> and water vapour to determine plant physiological characteristics such as  $A_{\rm n}, g_{\rm s}$ , transpiration and  $C_{\rm i}$ . The LI 6400 (Li-Cor Inc., Lincon, NE, USA) instrument used in Papers II, III and IV has control over [CO<sub>2</sub>], radiation and temperature, allowing for controlled response measurements to these variables. In Paper I, gas exchange was measured at both shoot and canopy levels, using shoot cuvettes and the WTC system.

#### Structural and chemical measurements

Measurements of structural and chemical leaf trait were conducted to assess the treatment effects on these variables, as well as to explore their influences on plant physiological responses. Table 1 shows which data that were collected in each experiment. Leaf traits included size, length, thickness, mass per unit area (LMA), N and phosphorus (P) content (mass- and area-based) and chlorophyll content. In addition, measurements were conducted to determine stomatal density and guard cell length, and the maximal  $g_s$ anatomically possible based on these data  $(g_{smax})$ . Measurements of leaf water potential  $(\Psi_L; \text{ pre-dawn and midday})$  were taken using Scholander type pressure bombs to estimate leaf area-specific plant hydraulic conductance  $(K_{\rm L})$ . Structural measurements at the branch and tree levels included wood density and total canopy leaf area, respectively.

#### Forest hydroclimatic measurements

Measurements of precipitation, air temperature and river runoff of forest-dominated catchment areas in central Sweden (Dalälven, Ljusnan, Ljungan and Indalsälven) used in **Paper I** were obtained from the Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute *Vattenweb* database. Catchment scale ET was calculated by water balance, subtracting river runoff from precipitation, assuming no changes in annual water storage. Measurements of growing season length for centralnorthern Sweden were calculated from longterm meteorological data from the Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute meteorological database.



Figure 10. Leaf gas exchange measurement on *Carapa grandiflora* for Paper IV. Photo by Thomas B. Hasper.

# 4 Findings and Discussion

Paper I

Elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] treatment had no short- or long-term effect on  $g_s$  of mature Norway spruce trees in the Flakaliden WTC experiment (Fig. 11a, d), and water-balance constrained large-scale ET estimates significantly increased (18%) in forested areas of central Sweden during the past half-century (Fig. 12). These results agreed with previous studies showing that conifers often lack or have weak stomatal responses to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] (Medlyn et al. 2001; Brodribb et al. 2009). Considering that Norway spruce and Scots pine (which also exhibit weak  $g_s$  responses to elevated  $[CO_2]$ ; Sigurdsson et al. 2002; Wang and Kellomäki 1997) are the two most abundant tree species in the Scandinavian part of the boreal biome, it is unlikely that these forests will save water under rising  $[CO_2]$ . This contradicts projections of  $CO_2$ induced plant water-savings made by climate and dynamic global vegetation models that have incorporated combined stomatal-photosynthesis equations (Betts et al. 2007; Luo et al. 2008). The results of this study also agreed with results from FACE experiments that have indicated that the effect of elevated  $[CO_2]$  on forest water use is small under ecologically realistic conditions (Leuzinger and Körner 2010). In fact, stand-level transpiration was more commonly increased (Uddling et al. 2008; Tricker et al. 2009) or not significantly affected (Cech et al. 2003; Leuzinger and Bader 2012; Tor-ngern et al. 2015) than de-crease (Wullschleger and Norby 2001) in forest FACE experiments.

Large-scale water-balance constrained ET was not dependent on mean temperature from May to September or growing season length (Fig. 13a, b) and warming did not increase transpiration (Fig. 11b) in the Flaka-



Figure 11. Shoot stomatal conductance at noon  $(g_{snoon}; a)$ , shoot transpiration at noon  $(E_{noon}; b)$ , tree transpiration per unit total projected needle area (tree *E* per needle area; c) and relative stomatal conductance during a CO<sub>2</sub> fumigation gap compared to preceding and following reference days  $(g_s \text{ Gap } / g_s \text{ Ref}; d)$ . From **Paper I**.

liden WTC experiment, since  $g_s$  reductions compensated for the increased VPD (Fig. 11a). Annual ET did, however, increase with increasing annual precipitation (Fig. 13c). These results indicate that forest ET in the southern and middle part of boreal Sweden is more strongly limited by water availability than by atmospheric evaporative demand.



Figure 12. Temporal trends of annual runoff and ET for large forested catchments of central Sweden. Modified from **Paper I**.

The finding that shoot transpiration was unaffected by temperature conflicts with projections made by ecosystem models employing combined stomatal-photosynthesis models, which predict that transpiration increases with increased temperature and VPD in boreal Sweden (e.g. Luo et al. 2008). In addition, the lack of positive effects of warming on shoot and tree water use in the Flakaliden experiment contrasts with results from a Scots pine warming experiment in Finland. In that experiment warming had a positive effect on shoot  $g_s$  and transpiration at high levels of temperature and VPD, as a result of reduced sensitivity of  $g_s$  to decreasing leaf water potential (Kellomaki and Wang 1996; Wang and Kellomaki 1997).

The reason why ET did not increase with growing season temperature in the Flakaliden experiment may be that Norway spruce exhibits tight stomatal control over transpiration, being a so called "isohydric" species (Leuzinger and Bader 2012). In such species, transpiration may not increase much as temperature (and VPD) increases from moderate to high values. Peak summer transpiration



Figure 13. Linear regressions of annual runoff and evapotranspiration (ET) plotted against mean temperature from May to September ( $T_{May-Sept}$ , a), growing season length (b) and annual precipitation (c) for large forested catchments of central Sweden. Modified from **Paper I**.

may thus not differ much between a normal and an unusually warm summer. Early and late growing season transpiration has minor contributions to annual total ET as judged by Flakaliden transpiration data, possibly explaining the lack of significant relationship between growing season length and annual ET (Fig. 13b).

#### Paper II

The direct  $g_s$  response to a short-term change in  $[CO_2]$  (from 400 to 640 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup>) was strong (-32%) and similar in all treatments (Fig. 14), but the  $g_s$  measured under growth conditions was not significantly affected by elevated  $[CO_2]$  or warming treatments. The observed short-term stomatal closure response to increased [CO<sub>2</sub>] thus did not translate into a reduction in  $g_s$  in trees grown under elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>], indicating that guard cell CO<sub>2</sub> responsiveness is not an important determinant of the long-term effect of elevated  $[CO_2]$  on  $g_s$  in young *E. globulus* trees. These findings contrasts with observations from previous FACE experiments (Cech et al. 2003; Keel et al. 2007; Domec et al. 2009; Maier et al. 2008; Onandia et al. 2011; Tor-ngern et al. 2015), where short- and long-term stomatal responses were positively and significantly related ( $r^2 = 0.81$ ; P =0.014; Fig. 1 in Paper IV). As discussed below, the likely reason why short- and longterm  $g_s$  responses to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] were uncoupled in this study was that structural responses dominated over the direct stomatal closure response in determining the longterm effect of elevated  $[CO_2]$  on  $g_s$  in young trees of our fast-growing species.

While the short- and long-term responses of  $g_s$  were uncoupled, the lack of effects of elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] and warming on  $g_s$  measured at growth conditions was matched by constancy in leaf area-specific hydraulic conductance and stomatal patterning across treatments (Fig. 4 in **Paper II**). This is in line with the general notion that changes in  $g_s$  and leaf hydraulic conductance are typically well coordinated (e.g. Brodribb and Jordan 2008). Similarly, stomatal density and length and the  $g_{\rm smax}$  values based on these variables were unaffected by both CO<sub>2</sub> and warming treatment. These findings agree with the lack of treatment effects on  $g_s$  measured at growth conditions. However, the results are in conflict with the negative correlation between  $[CO_2]$  and stomatal density in the fossil record, demonstrating an overall reduction of 2 to 4% in stomatal density per 100 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> increase in [CO<sub>2</sub>] across species (Franks et al. 2012). However, responses among [CO<sub>2</sub>] experiments are inconsistent (Gerhart and Ward 2010), and FACE experiments with trees found no overall effect of elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] on stomatal density (Ainsworth and Rogers 2007).



Figure 14. Responses of stomatal conductance ( $g_s$ ) to short-term changes in [CO<sub>2</sub>] relative to the  $g_s$  value at 400 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> [CO<sub>2</sub>] (%). Different letters indicate statistically significant ( $P \le 0.05$ ) differences in responses among treatments. Treatment combinations of ambient ( $T_A$ ) or elevated ( $T_E$ ) air temperature and ambient ( $C_A$ ) or elevated ( $C_E$ ) [CO<sub>2</sub>] are indicated as  $T_AC_A$ ,  $T_EC_A$ ,  $T_AC_E$  and  $T_EC_E$ . Error bars represent standard errors of the means ( $T_AC_A$ , n = 3; other treatments, n = 2). From **Paper II**.

At the canopy level, elevated  $[CO_2]$  significantly increased canopy leaf area by 96% and tree water use by 51% (Fig. 15a, b). Consequently, tree water use per unit canopy leaf area showed a 23% decrease in elevated  $[CO_2]$  (Fig. 15c), which was likely a result of a higher fraction of shaded leaves in larger tree crowns. Therefore, the expectation that plants will use less water under higher  $[CO_2]$  does not hold for young *E. globulus* trees. In

fact, stand-level tree water savings under elevated  $[CO_2]$  seems to be a rare phenomenon under ecologically realistic conditions (Wullschleger and Norby 2001). Overall, stand-level tree water use in forest FACE experiments was more commonly increased (Uddling et al. 2008; Tricker et al. 2009) or not significantly affected (Cech et al. 2003; Leuzinger and Bader 2012; Tor-ngern et al. 2015) than decreased (Wullschleger and Norby 2001) by elevated  $[CO_2]$ .

Warming treatments had no significant effects on any of the measured response variables in this study (Fig. 15 and figures in **Paper II**). These findings conflict with the expectation that transpiration would increase at higher VPD, and may be related to the observed reduction in biomass allocation to coarse roots in the warming treatment of the experiment (Quentin et al. 2015).

#### Paper III

Cool-adapted native montane species had lower (5–7 °C) optimum leaf temperature for the maximum rate of electron transport  $(J_{max})$ (but not for  $V_{\rm cmax}$ ) than the warm-adapted exotic plantation species (Fig. 16). This implies that there are genetically controlled differences in thylakoid membrane temperature responses between the studied native and exotic species that are related to their adaptations at origin climatic conditions. In native species, but not in exotics, the optimal temperature was lower for  $J_{\text{max}}$  than for  $V_{\text{cmax}}$ (Fig. 16). The result for native species conforms to the concept of a greater dependence of electron transport than of Rubisco carboxylation on thylakoid membrane stability and, thus, higher sensitivity to high temperatures (e.g. Sage and Kubien 2007). The optimum leaf temperature values for  $J_{\text{max}}$  in the exotic species were in the upper range of those previously reported (Kattge and Knorr 2007), indicating that the photosynthesis of these species are well adapted to future warming at the experimental site.



Figure 15. Canopy leaf area (a), daily tree water use (b) and daily tree water use per unit leaf area (c) under ambient  $(T_A)$  or elevated temperature  $(T_E)$  and ambient  $(C_A)$  or elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>]  $(C_E)$ . From **Paper II**.

This study also showed that the photosynthetic optimum leaf temperature of native montane species were frequently and greatly surpassed by their leaf temperatures, but less so the exotic plantation species, adapted to a warmer and more variable climate. This was demonstrated by the observed and modeled leaf temperatures being ca. 10 °C higher than the optimum leaf temperature for  $A_n$  at  $C_i$  of 272 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> ( $A_{n272}$ ) at the hottest hour of the day in the two climax montane species (*Carapa grandiflora* and *Entandrophragma*) excelsum), compared with smaller but signifycant exceedances in the other species (Fig. 17). This difference in exceedances was related to differences in leaf energy balance, rather than differences in  $A_n$  optimum temperatures (Fig. 17 and Table 3 in Paper III), with the two native climax species exhibiting low  $g_s$  (causing low transpiratory cooling) and large leaf size (causing inefficient heat dissipation). The large interspecific variation in leaf temperature in the common garden highlights the importance of considering leaf traits influencing the leaf energy balance (i.e. leaf size and  $g_s$ ) when evaluating plant sensitivity to warming. When grown together, differrent species may have similar physiological temperature responses but, as a result of differences in their leaf energy budgets, still experience different degrees of heat stress.

The finding that tropical climax species were particularly sensitive to high tempera-

ture is in line with findings from investigations of warming effects on the growth of tropical South American seedlings (e.g. Cheesman and Winter 2013). While not conclusive or directly applicable to mature forest, this suggests that warmer air temperatures have the potential to threaten seedling growth and recruitment and potentially migration and survival rates of tropical montane rainforest climax species (Medjibe et al. 2014; Zhu et al. 2014). Global warming will probably affect the competitive balance between tropical tree species with different magnitudes of optimum temperature exceedances. Here, as in other studies (Cheesman and Winter 2013; Zhu et al. 2014), there was an indication that such effects would be to the disadvantage of native montane species, which may be outcompeted by species exhibitting smaller warming-induced reductions in photosynthesis (e.g. pioneers or warmadapted species; Fig 17).



Figure 16. Responses of maximum electron transport rate ( $J_{max}$ ; a) and maximum rate of Rubisco carboxylation ( $V_{cmax}$ ; b) to temperature. Species include native tropical montane species (closed symbols and solid lines) and exotic species (open symbols and dashed lines). Error bars indicate  $\pm$  SE. Lines represent the fitted peaked Arrhenius equations. From **Paper III**.



Figure 17. Leaf temperatures in relation to photosynthetic optimum temperatures. Leaf temperatures are observations from four clear days ( $T_{Lobs}$ ; red; 28.3°C air temperature at 1 m above ground) or modeled estimates based on mean annual weather data ( $T_{Lmod}$ ; orange; upper values for 15:00 h weather; lower values for mean 06:30–18:00 h weather) for the native tropical montane species *Carapa grandiflora*, *Entandrophragma excelsum* and *Hagenia abyssinica* and the exotic plantation species *Cedrela serrata*, *Eucalyptus maidenii* and *Eucalyptus microcorys*. Also shown are optimum temperature ( $T_{opt}$ ) of maximum electron transport rate ( $J_{max}$ ; yellow) and maximum Rubisco carboxylation rate ( $V_{cmax}$ ; blue). Error bars indicate  $\pm$  SE. Horizontal lines indicate the optimum temperature for net photosynthesis at a constant internal [CO<sub>2</sub>] of 272 ( $T_{opt}$  for  $A_{n272}$ ; solid line; 26.3°C) and 408 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> ( $T_{opt}$  for  $A_{n408}$ ; dashed line; 29°C). From **Paper III**.

#### Paper IV

Species of all taxonomic groups significantly decreased  $g_s$  in response to a short-term increase in [CO<sub>2</sub>], with gymnosperms exhibitting weaker responses (-12% at 600 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> compared to 400 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> [CO<sub>2</sub>]) than monocots (-29%) and asterids and rosids being intermediate and not signifycantly different from any other group (Fig. 18a). These results are generally in line with earlier observations that stomatal CO<sub>2</sub> responsiveness is lower in gymnosperm compared to angiosperm species (Saxe et al. 1998; Medlyn et al. 2001; Brodribb et al. 2009). However, results did not support the claim that stomata of gymnosperms lack primary responses to increased  $[CO_2]$  (e.g. Brodribb et al. 2011). Rather, they support recent studies that also found significant stomatal closure responses to increased  $[CO_2]$  in gymnosperms (Haworth et al. 2013), and molecular studies showing that the genetic tool kits necessary to respond to environmental cues such as  $[CO_2]$  were present already in early land plants and are not exclusive to angiosperms (Chater et al. 2013).

The interspecific variation in short-term stomatal  $CO_2$  responsiveness across species was not significantly related to any of the measured structural or functional plant traits. However, gymnosperm  $g_s$  responses got stronger with increasing stomatal density

(Fig. 18b), agreeing with observations that stomatal sensitivity to other environmental cues is generally greater in species with higher stomatal density (Franks et al. 2009). In addition, there was a significant relationship between  $A_n$  at constant  $C_i$  of 280 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup>  $(A_{n280})$  and stomatal CO<sub>2</sub> responsiveness in monocots (Fig. 18c), indicating that responsiveness may be linked to the metabolic activity of the leaf in this taxonomic group where stomatal CO<sub>2</sub> responses were strong (Fig. 18a). It was also found that  $g_1$  was significantly related to  $K_L$  (Fig. 18d). This likely reflects a dependence of the marginal carbon cost of water use (which is inversely related to the square of  $g_1$ ) on the hydraulic capacity of trees, such that species with high hydraulic efficiency (i.e. high  $K_{\rm L}$ ) have a low car-bon cost per water use (i.e. a high  $g_1$ ).

The large interspecific variation in photosynthetic capacity was not explained by total leaf area-based nutrient content, in agreement with observations from previous tropical studies (Coste et al. 2005; Houter and Pons 2014; Dusenge et al. 2015). Instead, the differences in photosynthetic capacity among species were found to be strongly linked to the fractional investment of leaf N into compounds maximizing these capacities (Fig. 19). These results agreed with previous results from studies with tropical montane tree species (Coste et al. 2005; Dusenge et al. 2015) and a global meta-analysis (Ali et al. 2015). Moreover, there was a near-significant negative relationship (P = 0.085) between leaf N investments into Rubisco and bioenergetics (N<sub>R</sub>+N<sub>B</sub>) versus light harvesting compounds (N<sub>LH</sub>; Fig. 6d in Paper IV), corroborating the suggestion by Dusenge et al. (2015) that there is a N allocation tradeoff such that species with large fractional leaf N investments into light harvesting have low investments into compounds maximizing photosynthetic capacity, and vice versa. These results imply that current vegetation models, which often assume that  $V_{\rm cmax}$  and



Figure 18. Short-term  $g_s$  response to increased [CO<sub>2</sub>] (600 vs. 400 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup>) in relation to taxonomic group identity (a), stomatal density (b), and net photosynthetic rate at 280 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> intercellular [CO<sub>2</sub>] ( $A_{n280}$ ; c), as well as and the combined stomatal–photosynthesis parameter  $g_1$ in relation to leaf area-specific plant hydraulic conductance ( $K_L$ ; d). Modified from **Paper IV**.

 $J_{\text{max}}$  are plant functional type-specific functions of area-based leaf N content (e.g. Rogers 2014), would be much improved if they also account for differences in within-leaf N allocation.



Figure 19. Photosynthetic capacity (i.e.  $V_{cmax}$  and  $J_{max}$ ) in relation to the fraction of leaf N allocated to Rubisco and photosynthetic bioenergetics (N<sub>R</sub>+N<sub>B</sub>). From **Paper IV**.

# **5** Conclusions

#### Paper I

Evapotranspiration in boreal central Sweden has increased by 18% over the past 50 years, and this increase can be linked to the positive effects of increasing precipitation, to the lack of elevated  $CO_2$ -induced stomatal water savings, and to the 31% increase in standing forest biomass during this period. The historical increase in evapotranspiration cannot be fully attributed to intensified forest management, since it occurred also in the old unmanaged forest in the Svartberget catchment.

Due to future expected climatic and economic developments, it is likely that the past trend of increasing evapotranspiration in central Sweden will continue into the future. Therefore, the results of this study have important implications for the projections of future boreal biosphere–atmosphere interacttions, indicating that current projections of reduced  $g_s$  and tree water use under rising [CO<sub>2</sub>] will not hold for the European part of the boreal forest biome.

#### Paper II

The pronounced direct guard cell stomatal closure response to a short-term increase in  $[CO_2]$  did not translate into a similar long-term effect of elevated  $[CO_2]$  on  $g_s$ . Instead, the lack of  $CO_2$  and warming treatment effects on  $g_s$  was in agreement with constancy in both stomatal patterning (density and size) and leaf area-specific plant hydraulic conductance. At the canopy level, increased canopy leaf area together with lack of leaf-level water savings resulted in enhanced tree water use under elevated  $[CO_2]$ , while warming treatment did not significantly influence any of these response variables.

Taken together, these results demonstrated that structural responses dominated over

direct stomatal guard cell responses in determining the impact of elevated  $[CO_2]$  on  $g_s$ and water use of young *E. globulus* trees, implying that expectations of elevated CO<sub>2</sub>induced tree water savings and reduced drought vulnerability will not be realized for young stands with this species.

#### Paper III

The photosynthetic apparatus of seedlings of cool-adapted montane rainforest climax tree species was very sensitive to high temperature; with leaf temperatures of sunlit foliage greatly exceeding the photosynthetic optimum temperatures at the hottest hour of the day, to a large extent as a result of low transpiratory cooling (i.e. low  $g_s$ ) and inefficient heat dissipation (i.e. large leaf size).

These results suggest that montane rainforest climax species may be particularly sensitive to future global warming and highlights the urgent need for more research on thermal responses of photosynthesis (considering biochemical and stomatal limitations as well as leaf energy balance) in tropical trees in order to better assess their sensitivity to warming.

#### Paper IV

All analysed species significantly decreased  $g_s$  in response to a short-term increase in [CO<sub>2</sub>]. Responses were weaker in gymnosperms (-12%) than in monocots (-29%), and rosids and asterids (-21.4% and 20.7%, respectively) did not significantly differed from any other group.

Within-leaf N allocation was more important than the total leaf N content in controlling the interspecific variation in photosynthetic capacity among tropical woody species, and there was an indication of a tradeoff between leaf N investments into compounds maximizing photosynthetic capacity versus light harvesting. These findings imply that current vegetation models, which often assume that  $V_{\rm cmax}$  and  $J_{\rm max}$  are plant functional type-specific functions of area-based leaf N content, would be much improved if they could also account for differences in within-leaf N allocation.

### 6 Outlook

In this section there are examples of how the findings of the studies in this thesis could be used and further developed.

Swedish boreal forests have been experiencing significant hydrological changes during the last century. Results from **Paper I** showed that tree  $g_s$  and water-use were unaffected by elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and warming treatments and that large-scale ET has been increasing over the last 50 years, contradicting existing ecosystem models that assume substantial plant water-savings under rising CO<sub>2</sub>. These results have important implications for guiding model development in order to increase the reliability in projecting future boreal hydrology.

Some research questions could be further explored based on these results. It would be interesting to further investigate and quantify the influences of direct climatic effects, changes in human land use and management, and plant ecological responses to climate change (e.g. plant water saving responses under rising [CO<sub>2</sub>]) in driving changes in land ET and runoff in Sweden and elsewhere. Furthermore, observation-based ET results at catchment scale could be compared with simulations of ET and runoff using different types of models (ecosystem models, dynamic vegetation models and climate models) and satellite-based methodologies. Such comparison could serve to evaluate and develop models, which in turn would increase confidence in projections of future hydroclimatic change under different climate and land-use change scenarios.

Results from **Paper II** were from young *E. globulus* trees and showed that this fast-growing species responded to increased [CO<sub>2</sub>] by greatly increasing canopy leaf area and tree water use. Eucalyptus species are

generally fast growing, especially in young stages of development. Therefore, the responses observed in this study might be transient, and cannot be generalized for adult individuals and/or other Eucalyptus species. However, the findings make important contribution to the understanding of how young *E. globulus* (a widely used and ecologic and economic important species) trees will perform in a future climate.

Research to explore the impacts of elevated  $[CO_2]$  on mature Eucalyptus forests (mix of Red gum (*Eucalyptus tereticornis*), Cabbage gum (*Eucalyptus amplifolia*) and other species) has recently started at the EucFACE experiment, in Richmond, Australia. FACE studies are ecologically realistic experiments examining the effects of  $[CO_2]$  on plant growth and ecosystem functioning at the stand scale. EucFACE will provide important knowledge on how a mature native Eucalyptus forest will respond to the future increase in  $[CO_2]$ .

Results from **Paper III** showed that the photosynthetic apparatus of seedlings of cool-adapted montane rainforest climax tree species are very sensitive to high temperature, indicating that these species will be particularly sensitive to future global warming. This pioneering result stress the need for more research on thermal responses of photosynthesis in tropical trees in order to better assesses their sensitivity to warming.

An important question concerning the potential impacts of global warming on tropical forests is whether or not tropical tree species are close to an upper thermal limit above which they will experience heat stress and growth declines. Future studies could explore how increased temperatures affects tropical montane forest tree species by studying the same species planted in replicated common gardens along elevation gradients in tropical forests. Such studies would be able to assess differences in acclimation capacity among species (e.g. high-, mid- and low-elevation species, native vs. exotic, climax vs. pioneer species). If conducted at stand scale, such study could also examine if warm-adapted lower-elevation species outcompete cooladapted montane rainforest species when grown at lower elevations (representing climate change scenarios).

Results from **Paper IV** showed direct stomatal closure responses to a short-term increase in  $[CO_2]$  in all analysed tropical woody plant species. These findings contradict-ted previous studies that did not find any response of  $g_s$  to increased  $[CO_2]$  in gymnosperms.

Also, **Paper IV** results showed that within-leaf N allocation was more important than the total leaf N content in controlling the interspecific variation in photosynthetic capacity among the analysed species. This finding implies that current vegetation models would be much improved if they could also account for differences in within-leaf N allocation.

### 7 Acknowledgments

I would like to thank:

Johan Uddling Fredin, my supervisor, for your assistance and supervision during these years.

Göran Wallin, my co-supervisor, for your assistance and helpful advices.

Håkan Pleijel, my examiner, for making sure I was on the right track, especially at the end of the Ph.D..

Alexandre Antonelli, my mentor, for all the good conversations we had and for inspiring me in the moments I needed most.

My colleagues, Eric MD, Friederike B and Felicien UK for the help and company during the fieldwork in Rwanda, and Craig VMB and Burham A for the assistance during the fieldwork in Australia.

My colleagues, Filipe S, Brigitte N, Maria G, Angelica E, Fernando J, Shubhangi L, Andrei H, Lasse T, Lisa A, Tage V, Fabian R, Azzes B, Jenny K, Feng Z, Daniela A, Emilie L, Oskar J., Panos L, Frida L, Somnath D, Kemal S, Triranta S, Jonna E, Alexander Z, Ivana K, Örachorn M, Hugues N, Malin B, Maria K, Anders T, Calum N, Jeroen B, Yann B, Milton K and Mohamed A for sharing this experience with me.

Mats Rentförs, Ulf Molau, Henrik Aronsson, Claes Persson, Mats Andersson and Vivian Aldén for helping me with different tasks during the Ph.D.

My friend and colleague Gustavo Heiden and EMBRAPA Clima Temperado, RS, Brazil, for a great week full of ideas exchange.

Guenter Hoch, for the time I stayed with your research group at the Institute of Botany, University of Basel.

All my dear compatriots, especially Climbiê H, Narjara A and Marcela F for making the department a little bit more like "home". I really enjoyed the time we spend together! Ingela Dahllöf, Sven Toresson, Ingela Lyck, Ylva Heed, Carola Hjörnhede, Niclas Siberg, Ritva Viittala and Olga K. for making the department a pleasant and dynamic place to be part of.

Margareta Berg, my mother, for teaching me the real values in life and for always support my decisions, and Arnildo Hasper, my father, for teaching me to always question things.

My family, Nini, Sofia, Ana Paula, Guilherme, Julieta, Erni, Juliano, Titti, Mats, Titi, Sam and Sven for all things you taught me during our time together.

Karine BS, my better half, for all things you taught me during these years we have been together, and for been my partner in our adventures around the world!

Last but not least, The Swedish Strategic Research Areas Biodiversity and Ecosystems in a Changing Climate (BECC), the Modelling the Regional and Global Earth system (MERGE) program, Adlerbertska Stipendiestiftelsen, Stipendiefonden Viktor Rydbergs minne, Stiftelsen Åforsk, Stiftelsen Lundgrenska Donationsfonden, Stiftelsen Wilhelm och Martina Lundgrens Vetenskapsfond and Herbert och Karin Jacobssons stiftelse, for all the financial support.

> Thank you Tack Obrigado Gracias Multumesc Murakoze Merci Ευχαριστώ Teşekkür ederim 謝謝 Whakawhetai ki a koutou متشىكىرم

### 8. References

- Ainsworth EA, Long SP (2005) What have we learned from 15 years of free-air  $CO_2$  enrichment (FACE)? A meta-analytic review of the responses of photosynthesis, canopy properties and plant production to rising CO2. New Phytol 165:351–371.
- Ainsworth EA, Rogers A (2007) The response of photosynthesis and stomatal conductance to rising [CO<sub>2</sub>]: mechanisms and environmental interactions. Plant Cell Environ 30:258–270.
- Albani M, Medvigy D, Hurtt GC, Moorcroft PR (2006) The contributions of land-use change, CO<sub>2</sub> fertilization, and climate variability to the Eastern US carbon sink. Glob Chang Biol 12: 2370–2390.
- Ali AA, Xu C, Rogers A, et al (2015) Global scale environmental control of plant photosynthetic capacity. Ecol Appl. doi: 10.1890/14-2111.1
- Alkama R, Decharme B, Douville H, Ribes A (2011) Trends in Global and Basin-Scale Runoff over the Late Twentieth Century: Methodological Issues and Sources of Uncertainty. J Clim 24: 3000–3014.
- Bala G, Caldeira K, Wickett M, et al (2007) Combined climate and carbon-cycle effects of large-scale deforestation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:6550–5.
- Barton CVM, Ellsworth DS, Medlyn BE, et al (2010) Whole-tree chambers for elevated atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> experimentation and tree scale flux measurements in south-eastern Australia: The Hawkesbury Forest Experiment. Agric For Meteorol 150:941–951.
- Battaglia M, Beadle C, Loughhead S (1996) Photosynthetic temperature responses of *Eucalyptus globulus* and *Eucalyptus nitens*. Tree Physiol 16:81–90.
- Bernacchi CJ, Portis AR, Nakano H, et al (2002) Temperature response of mesophyll conductance. Implications for the determination of Rubisco enzyme kinetics and for limitations to photosynthesis in vivo. Plant Physiol 130:1992–1998.
- Bernacchi CJ, Singsaas EL, Pimentel C, et al (2001) Improved temperature response functions for models of Rubisco-limited photosynthesis. Plant, Cell Environ 24:253–259.

- Betts RA, Cox PM, Collins M, et al (2004) The role of ecosystem-atmosphere interactions in simulated Amazonian precipitation decrease and forest dieback under global climate warming. Theor Appl Climatol 78:157–175.
- Betts RA, Boucher O, Collins M, et al (2007) Projected increase in continental runoff due to plant responses to increasing carbon dioxide. Nature 448:1037–1041.
- Bonan GB (2008) Forests and climate change: forcings, feedbacks, and the climate benefits of forests. Science (80) 320:1444–1449.
- Brodribb TJ, Jordan GJ (2008) Internal coordination between hydraulics and stomatal control in leaves. Plant Cell Environ 31:1557–1564.
- Brodribb TJ, McAdam SAM (2013) Unique responsiveness of angiosperm stomata to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> explained by calcium signalling. PLoS One 8:1– 13.
- Brodribb TJ, McAdam SAM, Jordan GJ, Feild TS (2009) Evolution of stomatal responsiveness to CO<sub>2</sub> and optimization of water-use efficiency among land plants. New Phytol 183:839–847.
- Brodribb TJ, McAdam SAM, Way D (2011) Stomatal (mis) behaviour. Tree Physiol 31:1039–1040.
- Buffam I, Laudon H, Temnerud J, et al (2007) Landscape-scale variability of acidity and dissolved organic carbon during spring flood in a boreal stream network. J Geophys Res 112:1–11.
- Campbell C, Atkinson L, Zaragoza-Castells J, et al (2007) Acclimation of photosynthesis and respiration is asynchronous in response to changes in temperature regardless of plant functional group. New Phytol 176:375–389.
- Cao L, Bala G, Caldeira K, et al (2010) Importance of carbon dioxide physiological forcing to future climate change. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:9513–9518.
- Cech PG, Pepin S, Körner C (2003) Elevated CO<sub>2</sub> reduces sap flux in mature deciduous forest trees. Oecologia 137:258–268.
- Chater C, Gray JE, Beerling DJ (2013) Early evolutionary acquisition of stomatal control and development gene signalling networks. Curr Opin Plant Biol 16:638–646.

- Cheesman AW, Winter K (2013) Growth response and acclimation of CO<sub>2</sub> exchange characteristics to elevated temperatures in tropical tree seedlings. J Exp Bot 64:3817–3828.
- Chung H, muraoka H, Nakamura M, et al. (2013) Experimental warming studies on tree species and forest ecosystems: a literature review. J Plant Res 126:447–460.
- Ciais P, Sabine C, Bala G, et al (2013) Carbon and other biogeochemical cycles. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner G-K, et al. (eds) Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Coste S, Roggy J-C, Imbert P, et al (2005) Leaf photosynthetic traits of 14 tropical rain forest species in relation to leaf nitrogen concentration and shade tolerance. Tree Physiol 25:1127–1137.
- Crous KY, Quentin AG, Lin YS, et al (2013) Photosynthesis of temperate *Eucalyptus globulus* trees outside their native range has limited adjustment to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and climate warming. Glob Chang Biol 19:3790–3807.
- Curtis PS, Wang X (1998) A meta-analysis of elevated CO<sub>2</sub> effects on woody plant mass, form, and physiology. Oecologia 113:299–313.
- Dlugokencky E, Tans P. NOAA/ESRL: Trends in atmospheric Carbon Dioxide. Available at: www. esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/ (accessed 7 September 2015).
- Domec J-C, Palmroth S, Ward E, et al (2009) Acclimation of leaf hydraulic conductance and stomatal conductance of Pinus taeda (*loblolly pine*) to long-term growth in elevated CO<sub>2</sub> (freeair CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment) and N-fertilization. Plant Cell Environ 32:1500–1512.
- Doughty CE, Goulden ML (2008) Are tropical forests near a high temperature threshold? J Geophys Res Biogeosci 113:G00B07.
- Drake BG, Gonzalez-Meler M a., Long SP (1997) More efficient plants: a consequence of rising atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>? Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 48:609–639.
- Duan H, Duursma RA, Huang G, et al (2014) Elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] does not ameliorate the negative effects of elevated temperature on droughtinduced mortality in *Eucalyptus radiata* seedlings. Plant Cell Environ 37:1598–1613.

- Dusenge ME, Wallin G, Gårdesten J, et al (2015) Photosynthetic capacity of tropical montane tree species in relation to leaf nutrients, successional strategy and growth temperature. Oecologia 177:1183–1194.
- Ellsworth DS, Reich PB, Naumburg ES, et al (2004) Photosynthesis, carboxylation and leaf nitrogen responses of 16 species to elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> across four free-air CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment experiments in forest, grassland and desert. Glob Chang Biol 10:2121–2138.
- Franks PJ, Adams MA, Amthor JS, et al (2013) Sensitivity of plants to changing atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentration: from the geological past to the next century. New Phytol 197:1077–1094.
- Franks PJ, Drake PL, Beerling DJ (2009) Plasticity in maximum stomatal conductance constrained by negative correlation between stomatal size and density: An analysis using *Eucalyptus globulus*. Plant Cell Environ 32:1737–1748.
- Franks PJ, Leitch IJ, Ruszala EM, et al (2012) Physiological framework for adaptation of stomata to CO<sub>2</sub> from glacial to future concentrations. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 367:537– 546.
- Fredeen AL, Sage RF (1999) Temperature and humidity effects on branchlet gas-exchange in white spruce: an explanation for the increase in transpiration with branchlet temperature. Trees 14:0161.
- Gedney N, Cox PM, Betts RA, et al (2006) Detection of a direct carbon dioxide effect in continental river runoff records. Nature 439:835– 838.
- Gerhart LM, Ward JK (2010) Plant responses to low [CO<sub>2</sub>] of the past. New Phytol 188:674–695.
- Ghannoum O, Phillips NG, Conroy JP, et al (2010) Exposure to preindustrial, current and future atmospheric  $CO_2$  and temperature differentially affects growth and photosynthesis in Eucalyptus. Glob Chang Biol 16:303–319.
- Ghannoum O, Way D (2011) On the role of ecological adaptation and geographic distribution in the response of trees to climate change. Tree Physiol 31:1273–1276.
- Hall M, Rantfors M, Slaney M, et al (2009) Carbon dioxide exchange of buds and developing shoots of boreal Norway spruce exposed to elevated or ambient CO<sub>2</sub> concentration and temperature in whole-tree chambers. Tree Physiol 29:467–481.
- Hassan RM, Scholes R, Ash N (2005) Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Current State and

Trends: Findings of the Condition and Trends Working Group. Island Press, Washington, DC.

- Haworth M, Elliott-Kingston C, McElwain JC (2013) Co-ordination of physiological and morphological responses of stomata to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] in vascular plants. Oecologia 171:71–82.
- Hirose T, Ackerly DD, Traw MB, et al (1997)  $CO_2$  elevation, canopy photosynthesis, and optimal leaf area index. Ecology 78:2339–2350.
- Houter NC, Pons TL (2014) Gap effects on leaf traits of tropical rainforest trees differing in juvenile light requirement. Oecologia 175:37–50.
- Hovenden MJ (2001) The influence of temperature and genotype on the growth and stomatal morphology of southern beech, *Nothofagus cunningghamii* (Nothofagaceae). Aust J Bot 49:427–434.
- Huntington TG (2008) CO<sub>2</sub>-induced suppression of transpiration cannot explain increasing runoff. Hydrol Process 22:311–314.
- IPCC (2013) Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- IPCC (2014a) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp.
- IPCC (2014b) Summary for policymakers. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L. White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1-32.
- Jaramillo F, Destouni G (2014) Developing water change spectra and distinguishing change drivers worldwide. Geophys Res Lett 41:8377–8386.

- Kattge J, Knorr W (2007) Temperature acclimation in a biochemical model of photosynthesis: A reanalysis of data from 36 species. Plant, Cell Environ 30:1176–1190.
- Keel SG, Pepin S, Leuzinger S, Körner C (2007) Stomatal conductance in mature deciduous forest trees exposed to elevated CO<sub>2</sub>. Trees 21:151– 159.
- Keenan TF, Hollinger DY, Bohrer G, et al (2013) Increase in forest water-use efficiency as atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations rise. Nature 499:324–328.
- Kellomäki S, Wang KY (2001) Growth and resource use of Birch seedlings under elevated carbon dioxide and temperature. Ann Bot 87:669–682.
- Kim T-H, Böhmer M, Hu H, et al (2010) Guard cell signal transduction network: advances in understanding abscisic acid, CO<sub>2</sub>, and Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling. Annu Rev Plant Biol 61:561–591
- Kollist H, Nuhkat M, Roelfsema MRG (2014) Closing gaps: linking elements that control stomatal movement. New Phytol 203:44–62.
- Kupper P, Söber J, Sellin A, et al (2011) An experimental facility for free air humidity manipulation (FAHM) can alter water flux through deciduous tree canopy. Environ Exp Bot 72:432– 438.
- Labat D, Godderis Y, Probst JL, Guyot JL (2004) Evidence for global runoff increase related to climate warming. Adv Water Resour 27:631– 642.
- Laudon H, Taberman I, Agren A, et al (2013) The Krycklan Catchment Study - A flagship infrastructure for hydrology, biogeochemistry, and climate research in the boreal landscape. Water Resour Res 49:7154–7158.
- Le Quéré C, Raupach MR, Canadell JG, Marland G (2009) Trends in the sources and sinks of carbon dioxide. Nat Geosci 2:831–836.
- Leuning R (1995) A critical appraisal of a combined stomatal-photosynthesis model for C3 plants. Plant, Cell Environ 18:339–355.
- Leuzinger S, Bader MKF (2012) Experimental vs. modeled water use in mature Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) exposed to elevated CO<sub>2</sub>. Front Plant Sci 3:1–11.
- Leuzinger S, Körner C (2010) Rainfall distribution is the main driver of runoff under future CO<sub>2</sub>concentration in a temperate deciduous forest. Glob Chang Biol 16:246–254.
- Lewis JD, Lucash M, Olszyk DM, Tingey DT (2002) Stomatal responses of Douglas-fir

seedlings to elevated carbon dioxide and temperature during the third and fourth years of exposure. Plant Cell Environ 25:1411–1421.

- Lewis JD, Smith RA, Ghannoum O, et al (2013) Industrial-age changes in atmospheric [CO<sub>2</sub>] and temperature differentially alter responses of faster- and slower-growing Eucalyptus seedlings to short-term drought. Tree Physiol 33:475–488.
- Lin YS, Medlyn BE, Ellsworth DS (2012) Temperature responses of leaf net photosynthesis: the role of component processes. Tree Physiol 32:219–231.
- Long SP (1991) Modification of the response of photosynthetic productivity to rising temperature by atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations: Has its importance been underestimated? Plant Cell Environ 4:729–739.
- Luo YQ, Gerten D, Le Maire G, et al (2008) Modeled interactive effects of precipitation, temperature, and  $[CO_2]$  on ecosystem carbon and water dynamics in different climatic zones. Glob Chang Biol 14:1986–1999.
- Luomala EM, Laitinen K, Sutinen S, et al (2005) Stomatal density, anatomy and nutrient concentrations of Scots pine needles are affected by elevated  $CO_2$  and temperature. Plant Cell Environ 28:733–749.
- Luyssaert S, Inglima I, Jung M, et al (2007) CO<sub>2</sub> balance of boreal, temperate, and tropical forests derived from a global database. Glob Chang Biol 13:2509–2537.
- Mäenpää M, Riikonen J, Kontunen-Soppela S, et al (2011) Vertical profiles reveal impact of ozone and temperature on carbon assimilation of *Betula pendula* and *Populus tremula*. Tree Physiol 31: 808–818.
- Malhi Y, Roberts JT, Betts RA, et al (2008) Climate Change, Deforestation, and the Fate of the Amazon. Science (80) 169–172.
- Maier CA, Palmroth S, Ward E (2008) Short-term effects of fertilization on photosynthesis and leaf morphology of field-grown loblolly pine following long-term exposure to elevated  $CO_2$  concentration. Tree Physiol 28:597–606.
- McCarthy HR, Oren R, Finzi AC, et al (2007) Temporal dynamics and spatial variability in the enhancement of canopy leaf area under elevated atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>. Glob Chang Biol 13:2479– 2497.
- McCarthy HR, Oren R, Johnsen KH, et al (2010) Re-assessment of plant carbon dynamics at the Duke free-air CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment site: interactions

of atmospheric [CO<sub>2</sub>] with nitrogen and water availability over stand development. New Phytol 185:514–528.

- Medhurst J, Parsby J, Linder S, et al (2006) A whole-tree chamber system for examining treelevel physiological responses of field-grown trees to environmental variation and climate change. Plant Cell Environ 29:1853–1869.
- Medjibe VP, Poulsen JR, Clark CJ, Mbani OA (2014) Natural regeneration of selected timber species in the Republic of Congo. Afr J Ecol 52:552–563.
- Medlyn BE, Badeck FW, De Pury DGG, et al (1999) Effects of elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] on photosynthesis in European forest species: a meta-analysis of model parameters. Plant Cell Environ 22:1475– 1495.
- Medlyn BE, Barton CVM, Broadmeadow MSJ, et al (2001) Stomatal conductance of forest species after long-term exposure to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> concentration: a synthesis. New Phytol 149:247–264.
- Medlyn BE, Duursma RA, Eamus D, Ellsworth DS, Prentice IC, Barton CVM, Crous KY, de Angelis P, Freeman M, Wingate L (2011) Reconciling the optimal and empirical approaches to modelling stomatal conductance. Glob Chang Biol 17: 2134–2144.
- Moore BD, Cheng SH, Sims D, Seemann JR (1999) The biochemical and molecular basis for photosynthetic acclimation to elevated atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>. Plant Cell Environ 22:567–582.
- Morison JIL (1985) Sensitivity of stomata and water use efficiency to high CO<sub>2</sub>. Plant Cell Environ 8:467–474.
- Norby RJ, Warren JM, Iversen CM, et al (2010) CO<sub>2</sub> enhancement of forest productivity constrained by limited nitrogen availability. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:19368–19373.
- Nsabimana D, Klemedtson L, Kaplin BA, Wallin G (2009) Soil CO<sub>2</sub> flux in six monospecific forest plantations in Southern Rwanda. Soil Biol Biochem 41:396–402.
- Onandia G, Olsson AK, Barth S, et al (2011) Exposure to moderate concentrations of tropospheric ozone impairs tree stomatal response to carbon dioxide. Environ Pollut 159:2350–2354.
- Oren R, Sperry J, Katul G, et al (1999) Survey and synthesis of intra-and interspecific variation in stomatal sensitivity to vapour pressure deficit. Plant Cell Environ 22:1515–1526.
- Palmroth S, Oren R, McCarthy HR, et al (2006) Aboveground sink strength in forests controls the

allocation of carbon below ground and its [CO<sub>2</sub>]induced enhancement. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:19362–19367.

- Pan Y, Birdsey RA, Fang J, et al. (2011) A Large and Persistent Carbon Sink in the World's Forests. Science 333:988–993.
- Pandey R, Chacko PM, Choudhary ML, et al (2007) Higher than optimum temperature under CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment influences stomata anatomical characters in rose (*Rosa hybrida*). Sci Hortic (Amsterdam) 113:74–81.
- Peak D, Mott KA (2011) A new, vapour-phase mechanism for stomatal responses to humidity and temperature. Plant, Cell Environ 34:162–178.
- Peñuelas J, Canadell JG, Ogaya R (2011) Increased water-use efficiency during the 20th century did not translate into enhanced tree growth. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 20:597–608.
- Petit RJ, Raynaud D, Basile I, et al (1999) Climate and atmospheric history of the past 420,000 years from the Vostok ice core, Antarctica. Nature 399:429–413.
- Phillips NG, Attard RD, Ghannoum O, et al (2011) Impact of variable [CO<sub>2</sub>] and temperature on water transport structure-function relationships in Eucalyptus. Tree Physiol 31:945–52.
- Piao S, Friedlingstein P, Ciais P, et al (2007) Changes in climate and land use have a larger direct impact than rising CO<sub>2</sub> on global river runoff trends. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104: 15242–15247.
- Quentin AG, Crous KY, Barton CVM, Ellsworth DS (2015) Photosynthetic enhancement by elevated CO<sub>2</sub> depends on seasonal temperatures for warmed and non-warmed *Eucalyptus globulus* trees. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpv110
- Raymond PA, Oh NH, Turner RE, Broussard W (2008) Anthropogenically enhanced fluxes of water and carbon from the Mississippi River. Nature 451:449–452.
- Reich PB (2011) Taking stock of forest carbon. Nat Clim Chang 1:346–347.
- Rockwell FE, Michele Holbrook N, Stroock AD (2014) Leaf hydraulics I: Scaling transport properties from single cells to tissues. J Theor Biol 340:251–266.
- Rogers A (2014) The use and misuse of  $V_{c,max}$  in Earth System Models. Photosynth Res 119:15–29.
- Ryan MG (2013) Three decades of research at Flakaliden advancing whole-tree physiology, forest

ecosystem and global change research. Tree Physiol 33:1123–1131.

- Sabine CL, Heimann M, Artaxo P, et al. (2004) Current status and past trends of the global carbon cycle. In: Field CB, Raupach MR. (eds) The global carbon cycle: Integrating humans, climate and the natural world. Island Press, Washington, DC, pp 17-44.
- Sadras VO, Montoro A, Moran MA, Aphalo PJ (2012) Elevated temperature altered the reaction norms of stomatal conductance in field-grown grapevine. Agric For Meteorol 165:35–42.
- Sage RF (1994) Acclimation of photosynthesis to increasing atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>: The gas exchange perspective. Photosynth Res 39:351–368.
- Sage RF, Kubien DS (2007) The temperature response of C3 and C4 photosynthesis. Plant Cell Environ 30:1086–1106.
- Saxe H, Ellsworth DS, Heath J (1998) Tree and forest functioning in an enriched CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. New Phytol 139:395–436.
- Schäfer KVR, Oren R, Lai CT, et al (2002) Hydrologic balance in an intact temperate forest ecosystem under ambient and elevated atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentration. Glob Chang Biol 8: 895–911.
- Sigurdsson BD, Roberntz P, Freeman M, et al. (2002) Impact studies on Nordic forests: effects of elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and fertilization on gas exchange. Can J Forest Res 32:779–788.
- Sigurdsson BD, Medhurst JL, Wallin G, et al (2013) Growth of mature boreal Norway spruce was not affected by elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] and/or air temperature unless nutrient availability was improved. Tree Physiol 33:1192–1205.
- Silim SN, Ryan N, Kubien DS (2010) Temperature responses of photosynthesis and respiration in *Populus balsamifera* L.: Acclimation versus adaptation. Photosynth Res 104:19–30.
- Tjoelker MG, Oleksyn J, Reich PB (1999) Acclimation of respiration to temperature and  $CO_2$  in seedlings of boreal tree species in relation to plant size and relative growth rate. Glob Chang Biol 5:679–691.
- Tor-ngern P, Oren R, Ward EJ, et al (2015) Increases in atmospheric  $CO_2$  have little influence on transpiration of a temperate forest canopy. New Phytol 205:518–525.
- Tricker PJ, Pecchiari M, Bunn SM, et al (2009) Water use of a bioenergy plantation increases in a future high CO<sub>2</sub> world. Biomass Bioenergy 33: 200–208.

- Uddling J, Teclaw RM, Kubiske ME, et al (2008) Sap flux in pure aspen and mixed aspen-birch forests exposed to elevated concentrations of carbon dioxide and ozone. Tree Physiol 28:1231– 1243.
- Uddling J, Teclaw RM, Pregitzer KS, Ellsworth DS (2009) Leaf and canopy conductance in aspen and aspen-birch forests under free-air enrichment of carbon dioxide and ozone. Tree Physiol 29: 1367–1380.
- Von Caemmerer S, Griffiths H (2009) Stomatal responses to CO<sub>2</sub> during a diel Crassulacean acid metabolism cycle in *Kalanchoe daigremontiana* and *Kalanchoe pinnata*. Plant, Cell Environ 32: 567–576.
- Vu JCV (2005) Rising atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> and C4 photosynthesis. In: Pessarakli M (ed) Handbook of photosynthesis, 2nd ed. Taylor and Francis, Boca Raton, Florida, pp. 315-326.
- Wang KY, Kellomaki S (1997) Stomatal conductance and transpiration in shoots of Scots pine after 4-year exposure to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and temperature. Can J Botany 75:552–561.
- Ward EJ, Oren R, Bell DM, et al (2013) The effects of elevated  $CO_2$  and nitrogen fertilization on stomatal conductance estimated from 11 years of scaled sap flux measurements at Duke FACE. Tree Physiol 33:135–151.
- Warren CR (2008) Does growth temperature affect the temperature responses of photosynthesis and internal conductance to CO<sub>2</sub>? A test with *Eucalyptus regnans*. Tree Physiol 28:11–19.
- Warren JM, Pötzelsberger E, Wullschleger SD, et al (2011) Ecohydrologic impact of reduced stomatal conductance in forests exposed to elevated CO<sub>2</sub>. Ecohydrology 4:196–210.
- Way DA, Domec JC, Jackson RB (2013) Elevated growth temperatures alter hydraulic characterristics in trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) seedlings: Implications for tree drought tolerance. Plant Cell Environ 36:103–115.
- Way DA, Sage RF (2008) Thermal acclimation of photosynthesis in black spruce [*Picea mariana* (Mill.) B.S.P.]. Plant Cell Environ 31:1250– 1262.
- Way DA, Yamori W (2014) Thermal acclimation of photosynthesis: On the importance of adjusting our definitions and accounting for thermal acclimation of respiration. Photosynth Res 119:89– 100.
- Way DA, Oren R (2010) Differential responses to changes in growth temperature between trees

from different functional groups and biomes: a review and synthesis of data. Tree Physiol 30: 669–688.

- Way DA, Oren R, Kroner Y (2015) The space-time continuum: the effects of elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and temperature on trees and the importance of scaling. Plant, Cell Environ 38:991–1007.
- Wisser D, Fekete BM, Vorosmarty CJ, Schumann AH (2010) Reconstructing 20th century global hydrography: a contribution to the Global Terrestrial Network-Hydrology (GTN-H). Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 14:1–24.
- Woodward FI (1990) Global change: translating plant ecopyhsiological responses to ecosystems. Trends Ecol Evol 5:308–311.
- Wullschleger SD, Norby RJ (2001) Sap velocity and canopy transpiration in a sweetgum stand exposed to free-air CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment (FACE). New Phytol 150:489–498.
- Wullschleger SD, Tschaplinski TJ, Norby RJ (2002) Plant water relations at elevated CO<sub>2</sub> – Implications for water-limited environments. Plant Cell Environ 25:319–331.
- Yamori W, Hikosaka K, Way DA (2014) Temperature response of photosynthesis in C3, C4, and CAM plants: Temperature acclimation and temperature adaptation. Photosynth. Res. 119:101–117.
- Zeppel MJB, Lewis JD, Chaszar B, et al (2012) Nocturnal stomatal conductance responses to rising [CO<sub>2</sub>], temperature and drought. New Phytol 193:929–938.
- Zha T-S, Kellomäki S, Wang K-Y, Ryyppö A (2005) Respiratory responses of Scots pine stems to 5 years of exposure to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> concentration and temperature. Tree Physiol 25:49–56.
- Zheng YP, Xu M, Hou RX, et al (2013) Effects of experimental warming on stomatal traits in leaves of maize (*Zea may* L.). Ecol Evol 3:3095–3111.
- Zhu K, Woodall CW, Ghosh S, et al (2014) Dual impacts of climate change: Forest migration and turnover through life history. Glob Chang Biol 20:251–264.